65576-1

65576-1

NO. 65576-1-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SERGIO GONZALEZ GUZMAN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Before his trial, Sergio Gonzalez Guzman told the court he wanted to represent himself, but the court simply ignored the request and asked no follow-up questions. Gonzalez Guzman also explained that he was unable to communicate with his lawyer due to a language barrier but the court disregarded the complaint without asking if this problem affected the attorney-client relationship.

At his trial, the court instructed the jury it should presume that if Gonzalez Guzman intentionally touched or struck his son in this first degree assault case, then he necessarily had the separate *mens rea* required to prove the infliction of great bodily harm. Over Gonzalez Guzman's objection, the court also instructed the jury that proof beyond a reasonable doubt means they should believe "in the truth" of the charge, even though our Supreme Court has ruled that the jury's job is not to search for the truth. These errors and others discussed herein denied Gonzalez Guzman his right to a fair trial by jury as well as his right to self-representation and the corollary right to effective assistance of counsel with whom one can communicate.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The court denied Gonzalez Guzman his right to represent himself under the Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22.

2. The court denied Gonzalez Guzman his right to an attorney with whom he can communicate as required by the Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22.

3. Instruction 10 relieved the State of its burden to prove every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt and violated Gonzalez Guzman's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment, as well as his inviolate right to a jury trial under Article I, sections 21 and 22.

4. Gonzalez Guzman was denied a fair trial when the prosecution's closing argument encouraged the jury to use Gonzalez Guzman's failure to testify at trial against him, shifted the burden of proof, and castigated Gonzalez Guzman's character based on facts not in evidence.

5. Instruction 2 misstated the definition of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and confused the State's burden of proof.

6. The court's entry of an order prohibiting any contact between Gonzalez Guzman and his biological son without any evidence from the

State that it had a compelling need for a complete bar on contact between parent and child violated Gonzalez Guzman's right to parent and due process of law.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. The right to self-representation is constitutionally guaranteed and, when requested, the court may not deny it without undertaking the necessary inquiry on the record. Gonzalez Guzman told the court he wanted to represent himself, but the court asked no further questions, ignored the request, and denied the motion. Did the court's disregard of Gonzalez Guzman's clearly expressed request to represent himself violate his right to represent himself?

2. When an accused person informs the court of a substantial impairment in his relationship with his counsel, the court must consider whether there is an irreconcilable conflict after conducting a private and in-depth inquiry. Gonzalez Guzman informed the court that he was unable to effectively communicate with his lawyer due to a language barrier, but the court asked no further questions other than ascertaining from counsel whether he was ready for trial. Did the court improperly deny Gonzalez Guzman's request for a lawyer with whom he could effectively communicate when it conducted no inquiry after learning

that the language barrier was precluding attorney-client communication?

3. Where a jury is instructed that proof of one element conclusively establishes another, the State is relieved of its burden to prove each element of the offenses. Assault of a child in the first degree requires proof that the accused person (1) intentionally assaulted another, and (2) recklessly caused great bodily injury. Was the State relieved of its burden of proof when the jury was instructed that if it found the accused acted intentionally, he necessarily acted recklessly, without explaining that the intent must apply to the infliction of the required great bodily harm?

4. The right to remain silent is a fundamental tenet of our criminal law jurisprudence and the prosecution may not ask the jury to draw a negative inference from an accused person's failure to proclaim his innocence. The prosecution also may not tell the jury that the accused has the burden of disproving the credibility of its witnesses or inject facts not in evidence so the jury will think the defendant is a bad person. The prosecution emphasized that Gonzalez Guzman did not take the stand and give his story, did not offer reasons why his wife should be disbelieved, and concocted the argument that he only married

his wife because he felt guilty for never proposing to her before the alleged crime occurred. Is reversal required where the prosecution's efforts to use Gonzalez Guzman's right to remain silent against him as well as related misconduct affected the jury and the State cannot prove that the violation of his right to remain silent was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

5. The role of the jury is to decide whether the prosecution met its burden of proof and it misleads the jury to encourage them to search for the truth. Over Gonzalez Guzman's objection, the court instructed the jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an abiding "belief in the truth of the charge." When it is not the jury's job to determine the truth, did the court misstate the burden of proof by focusing the jury on whether they believed the charge was true?

6. A parent's fundamental right to have a relationship with his biological child may not be terminated without due process of law. The court ordered that Gonzalez Guzman may not have any contact whatsoever with his child for the rest of his life. By entering a blanket lifetime no-contact order without any determination that the order was reasonably necessary to serve a compelling state interest, did the court impermissibly prohibit all contact between a father and his son?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

In the afternoon of November 10, 2007, Sergio Gonzalez Guzman had trouble awaking his infant son Danny and getting him to eat. 6/22/09RP 52. Sergio woke up the child's mother, Crystal Gonzalez, who was still sleeping in the afternoon because she had been out late bowling the night before. Id.¹ Crystal first told Sergio not to worry about Danny, but when she saw that his eyes seem to be rolling inside his head, she got up and took him to the hospital. Id. at 52-53, 84. Because Sergio did not speak English and they needed someone to watch their three other children, Sergio stayed behind and met them at the hospital later. Id. at 53, 85.

Doctors who examined Danny found bleeding in his brain consistent with him striking his head. 6/17/09RP 48. He had a fracture in the back of his skull and a fracture in one leg and ribs. Id. at 47, 89. The injuries could have been caused by a fall but would need to be a fall from high up to have enough force. Id. at 51. Danny was severely injured; bleeding from his retina caused blindness and the bleeding in his brain stunted the growth of his skull. 6/17/09RP 142; 6/18/09RP 39.

¹ For purposes of clarity, the family members who share the same last name are referred to by their first name as necessary. No disrespect is intended.

These injuries caused lasting cognitive and physical disability.

6/22/09RP 116-19.

The “specific mechanism” causing these injuries was unknown to the doctors. 6/17/09RP 26. Pediatric neurosurgeon Samuel Boyd testified that he was not certain that the injuries were nonaccidental. 6/17/09RP 41; see also Id. at 58 (Dr. Robert Oxford agreeing “trauma of some type” caused injury but cannot say caused by abuse rather than accident); Id. at 106-07 (Dr. Rebecca Weister opining “constellation of injuries” is “highly consistent with inflicted trauma”).

At the hospital, Detective Mike Thomas interviewed Crystal and Sergio. 6/22/09RP 133. Sergio said that while carrying Danny the evening before, he tripped and fell on top of him with all of his weight. 6/22/09RP 135. The child seemed uninjured after the fall, so Sergio gave him a bottle and put him to bed. Id. at 144. He was not a fussy baby. Id. at 135. The children and their parents shared a single bedroom and no one noticed anything out of the ordinary until Sergio became concerned the next day when the child would not wake up or eat. Id. at 105, 107.

Crystal denied having any involvement in harming Danny and said she had been at a friend’s house with the children, then dropped the

children off with Sergio while she went bowling. 6/22/09RP 38-42. At the hospital, Crystal said Sergio told her he accidentally tripped and he was scared. Id. at 58-59. After they learned that the authorities suspected the child's injuries were Sergio's fault, Crystal said he told her was "willing to go to jail" for hurting his son but it was an accident. 6/22/09RP 88. Crystal told Sergio she was afraid she would lose the children. Id. Crystal also said that she had never seen Sergio lose his temper in front of the children or otherwise taken out frustration on her or the children. 6/22/09RP 77, 79. She agreed that Sergio was actively involved in caring for their children and was "really good" with them. Id. at 65, 71, 76.

Gonzalez Guzman was charged with one count of assault of a child in the first degree. CP 1. He was convicted after a jury trial and sentenced to 123 months. CP 41. The court also imposed a lifetime no contact order with Danny. CP 41.

Pertinent facts are addressed in further detail in the relevant argument sections below.

E. ARGUMENT.

1. The court impermissibly ignored Gonzalez Guzman's request to represent himself or have a lawyer with whom he could communicate.

The constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to representation by a competent attorney at all stages of a criminal proceeding, as well as the corollary right to waive counsel and represent oneself. U.S. Const. amend. 6;¹ U.S. Const. amend. 14;² Wash. Const. art. I, § 22;³ Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010).

Gonzalez Guzman asked to represent himself, but the court ignored his request. Gonzalez Guzman also requested a different lawyer, explaining he was unable to effectively communicate with

¹ The Sixth Amendment provides in part, In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial . . . and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.

² The Fourteenth Amendment says in part: "No state shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

³ Article I, section 22 provides in pertinent part:

current counsel due to their language barrier. The court summarily disregarded both requests without conducting the required inquiry, which violated Gonzalez Guzman’s right to represent himself as well as his right to counsel.

a. The court is not free to ignore a request for self-representation.

The right to self-representation is implicitly guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and explicitly guaranteed by article I, section 22. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 503. This right is “so fundamental that it is afforded despite its potentially detrimental impact on both the defendant and the administration of justice.” Id. “The unjustified denial of this [pro se] right requires reversal.” Id. (quoting State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 737, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (emphasis added in Madsen)).

Anytime an accused person requests to represent himself, “the trial court must determine whether the request is unequivocal and timely.” Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504 (emphasis added). Then, unless the court finds the request is equivocal or untimely, “the court must

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, . . . [and] to have a speedy

determine if the request is voluntary, knowing, and intelligent, usually by colloquy.” Id. (emphasis added).

The “only bases” to deny a request for self-representation is that the court finds the request is equivocal, untimely, involuntary, or made without understanding its consequences. Id. Any such finding by the court “must be based on some identifiable fact,” not merely on speculation by the trial court or the reviewing court. Id. at 505. The court cannot “stack the deck” against the accused by failing to conduct the proper inquiry. Id. at 506. When a court fails to follow up an unequivocal request to proceed pro se, “the only permissible conclusion is that [the accused’s] request was voluntary, knowing, and intelligent.” Id.

A request for self-representation “is valid even if combined with an alternative request for new counsel.” Id. at 507. The fact that an accused person also asks for another lawyer at the same time is “irrelevant” to whether the pro se request is equivocal. Id.

A request is not untimely because it is made as trial is about to commence. Before trial is underway, the timeliness of the request “depends on the facts of the particular case with a measure of discretion

public trial by an impartial jury.”

reposing in the trial court in the matter.” Id. at 508. Even a request to proceed pro se made during trial must be fully considered by the court, although at this late stage the trial court has more authority to deny the request based on its “informed discretion.” Id. (quoting State v. Barker, 75 Wn.App. 236, 241, 881 P.2d 1051 (1994)).

b. The court ignored Gonzalez Guzman’s request to represent himself.

Gonzalez Guzman unequivocally informed the court that he wanted to represent himself. He said, “I want to represent myself while we’re in trial.” 6/15/09RP 4. He made this statement at the same time that he explained to the court that he was having difficulty communicating with his lawyer and would like a lawyer that speaks his language. Id. He made this request at the start of the day in which his trial was set to commence but before trial was underway. Id.

The court ignored Gonzalez Guzman’s request to represent himself. Instead of following up on Gonzalez Guzman’s demand, the court asked him whether he had another attorney in the courtroom. 6/15/09RP 5. When Gonzalez Guzman answered that he did not have another attorney “here right now” the court asked if he had asked for a different attorney fluent in Spanish on other occasions. Id. Gonzalez

Guzman said he had not asked before and the court denied his motion. Id. at 5-6.

The court did not inquire into Gonzalez Guzman's request for self-representation even though it was unambiguous. It did not ask clarifying questions about his understanding of the charges or his ability to proceed to trial immediately. Instead, the court ignored the request.

The court's failure to inquire into Gonzalez Guzman's request, or identify the facts that made the request untimely, unintelligent, or involuntary, constitutes an abuse of discretion. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 505-06. The fact that he also said he wanted another lawyer is "irrelevant" and does not render equivocal his statement that "I want to represent myself while we're in trial." Id. at 507.

When the court fails to ask further questions about the voluntariness of a request to proceed pro se or the accused's ability to timely proceed to trial, and the record does not disprove the validity of the request, it violates the right to self-representation to deny self-representation to the accused. Id. at 504. Such a violation occurred here.

- c. The court summarily dismissed Gonzalez Guzman's complaints about his ability to communicate with his lawyer

A criminal defendant must be able to communicate with his lawyer during key phases of trial preparation, to “provide needed information to his lawyer and to participate in the making of decisions on his own behalf.” Riggins v. Nevada, 504 U.S. 127, 144, 112 S. Ct. 1810, 118 L. Ed. 2d 479 (1992). “[A] defendant's right to the effective assistance of counsel is impaired when he cannot cooperate in an active manner with his lawyer.” Id. While accused persons are not guaranteed the best rapport with their attorneys, they are guaranteed representation by “an effective advocate” with whom they have no irreconcilable conflicts and can communicate. Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 100 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1988).

A trial court may not permit a criminal defendant to be represented by an attorney with whom there is an irreconcilable conflict of interest. In Re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (court must adequately inquire into extent of conflict); see also United States v. Nguyen, 262 F.3d 998, 1003 (9th Cir. 2002) (“For an inquiry regarding substitution of counsel to be sufficient, the

trial court should question the attorney or defendant ‘privately and in depth.’”).

To determine whether there is an irreconcilable conflict between attorney and client requiring substitution of counsel, the Washington Supreme Court applies a three-part test. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724 (adopting the test set forth in United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-59 (9th Cir. 1998)). The factors include “(1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion.” Id.

A court errs by focusing on the attorney’s competence when an accused person complains about the attorney-client relationship. Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1003 (“Even if present counsel is competent, a serious breakdown in communications can result in an inadequate defense.”). Instead, the court must inquire into the nature of the problem between the lawyer and client. Id. at 1002.

In Nguyen, the defendant complained at the start of trial that his attorney was rude and almost never talked to him. Id. at 1001. The defense attorney responded by telling the court he met with the defendant several times and he was prepared for trial. Id. The trial court did not further inquire into the defendant’s complaints. Id. During trial,

defense counsel told the court that his client would no longer speak with him. Id. The court informed the defendant that his lawyer was representing him adequately and it would not provide him with a different attorney. Id.

The Nguyen Court found the trial court abused its discretion and deprived Mr. Nguyen of his right to counsel on two grounds: denying his request for more time to obtain a new attorney and refusing to substitute counsel. Id. at 1002. Even though the defendant did not ask for new counsel until the start of trial, the trial court erred by failing to determine the length of possible delay that would result from new counsel. Id. at 1004. The timeliness inquiry balances “the resulting inconvenience and delay against the defendant's important constitutional right to counsel of his choice.” Moore, 159 F.3d at 1161 (internal citation omitted). “The mere fact that the jury pool was ready for selection or even that the jury was ready for trial does not automatically outweigh Nguyen's Sixth Amendment right.” Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1004.

Additionally, the court inadequately inquired into the defendant's complaints. Id. at 1003. The court should have asked about the nature of the problem with the present attorney by questioning the

defendant and attorney “privately and in depth.” Id. at 1004; see also United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772, 777-78 (9th Cir . 2002) (“in most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in communication by asking specific and targeted questions.”). By limiting its inquiry into whether the attorney and client had met to discuss the case and whether the attorney was prepared to proceed, the court did not sufficiently seek information about the nature of the problem. Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1005; see also Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 778 (trial court must “probe more deeply into the nature of the relationship” between defendant and counsel beyond assessing attorney’s preparedness); Moore, 159 F.3d at 1160 (giving “both parties a chance to speak and ma[king] limited inquires to clarify” does not mean court adequately understood “the extent of the breakdown.”).

When Gonzalez Guzman complained about his inability to communicate with his lawyer due to the language barrier, the court did not pursue the complaint in private or in depth. The court merely asked Gonzalez Guzman if he had another attorney available and when Gonzalez Guzman said no, it asked defense counsel whether he was ready for trial. 6/15/09RP 5-6. The court did not ask about the nature of

the communication problems or try to discern how it impeded Gonzalez Guzman's ability to discuss his case with counsel.

This inquiry was inadequate. Gonzalez Guzman did not simply complain that he disliked his lawyer but rather he said that he was unable to effectively communicate with his lawyer due to the language barrier, and this problem persisted even with use of an interpreter.

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