2013 MAR -

PH 3: 24

NO. 65576-1-I

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**DIVISION I** 

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SERGIO GONZALEZ GUZMAN,

Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JAMES CAYCE

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

###

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

The analysis of these cases that address the definition of "recklessly" in the context of assault in the second degree is directly applicable to the charge here, assault of a child in the first degree, which also sets out a mental state with respect to the act, "intentionally assaulted," and a mental state as to the result, "recklessly inflicted great bodily harm." CP 34. The instruction defining "recklessly" would not lead a reasonable juror to believe

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Appellant's Brief at 23-24.

<sup>1303-3</sup> Gonzalez Guzman COA

that if the juror concluded that an intentional assault occurred, the juror need not consider whether the defendant recklessly inflicted great bodily harm.

Finally, any error in the instruction is harmless error in this case. There is a special harmless error test that applies to instructions that include impermissible mandatory presumptions. <u>Yates v. Evatt</u>, 500 U.S. 391, 403-06, 111 S. Ct. 1884, 114 L. Ed. 2d 432 (1991); <u>State v. Atkins</u>, 156 Wn. App. 799, 813, 236 P.3d 897 (2010).

The reviewing court first will "identify the evidence the jury reasonably considered under the instructions given by the court on the pertinent issue." <u>Atkins</u>, 156 Wn. App. at 813-14. When there are alternatives other than the presumption in the pertinent definition, as in the case at bar, the jury was not limited to considering the presumption. <u>Id.</u> at 814. In this case, the jury would have considered all of the evidence, as the evidence of reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm is the same evidence that establishes the intentional assault – the injuries suffered by DG in the context of the explanations of the cause of the injuries – is the evidence relevant to both issues. Additionally, as in <u>Atkins</u>, the court instructed the jury:

.

In order to decide whether any proposition has been proved, you must consider all of the evidence that I have admitted that relates to the proposition. Each party is entitled to the benefit of all of the evidence, whether or not that party introduced it.

CP 22. Based on that instruction, the court in <u>Atkins</u> inferred that the jury considered all the evidence relevant to the pertinent issue. <u>Atkins</u>, 156 Wn. App. at 815.

The second step of the <u>Yates</u> test is to weigh the evidence considered against the probative force of the presumption alone – if the evidence is so overwhelming there is no reasonable doubt as to the verdict, the error is harmless. <u>Atkins</u>, 156 Wn. App. at 815-16. Here, the unrebutted and uncontested evidence of the devastating extent of DG's brain injury is overwhelming evidence that the person who assaulted him and caused the injury did recklessly inflict great bodily harm.

The prosecutor noted the State's burden of proving the element that the defendant recklessly inflicted bodily harm but then argued that it was not one of the contested issues in the case, just as the issues of the age of the defendant and DG were not contested. 6/23RP 6. The prosecutor was correct – this element was not contested in the defense closing argument, which challenged only the proof of the identity of the person who caused

- 24 -

DG great bodily harm, asserting that person was the baby's mother. 6/23RP 18-31. Gonzalez Guzman explicitly stated that the issues were: "Was it intentional? And if it was, who caused it?" 6/23RP 19. The defense attorney never referred to the recklessness element. The alleged instructional error was harmless.

#### 3. THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT DID NOT CONSTITUTE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Gonzalez Guzman contends that three aspects of the prosecutor's comments in closing argument constitute misconduct and warrant reversal. None of the comments were improper.

A defendant who claims on appeal that prosecutorial misconduct deprived him of a fair trial generally bears the burden of establishing that the conduct was both improper and prejudicial. <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756-59, 764 n.14, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); <u>State v. Fisher</u>, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). If misconduct is proven, it is grounds for reversal if the defendant establishes a substantial likelihood that the improper conduct affected the jury's verdict. <u>State v. McKenzie</u>, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

.

A defendant who does not make a timely objection at trial waives any claim on appeal unless the misconduct in question is "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice" that could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction to the jury. <u>Fisher</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 747 (quoting <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)).

The Supreme Court recognizes that the absence of an objection by defense counsel "*strongly suggests* to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of trial." <u>McKenzie</u>, at 53 n.2 (emphasis in original) (quoting <u>State v. Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)). That Court has stated, "Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the misconduct as a life preserver ... on appeal." <u>State v. Russell</u>, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (citing Jones v. Hogan, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960)).

A prosecutor is afforded wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence for the jury. <u>Stenson</u>, at 727. The prosecutor's remarks must not be viewed in isolation, but "in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the

- 26 -

1303-3 Gonzalez Guzman COA

I

jury." State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997),

aff'd on other grounds, Uttecht v. Brown, 551 U.S. 1 (2007).

a. The Court's Instructions Regarding The Weight To Be Given To The Lawyers' Arguments.

The trial court's initial oral instruction to the jury venire in this

case included the following information about the trial process:

[It] will be your duty to determine the facts of the case from the evidence that is produced in court. It will be your duty to accept the law from the court regardless of what you personally believe the law is or ought to be. You are to apply the law to the facts and in this way decide the case. The defendant in every criminal case is presumed innocent, and this presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless the jury finds during its deliberations that it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. The State has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. And all jurors must be unanimous. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists. Further a defendant is not compelled to testify, and the fact that a defendant does not testify cannot be used to infer guilt or prejudice him in any way.

6/16RP 32.

After the jury panel was selected and sworn, the court again orally advised the jurors that the lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are not evidence and "you should disregard any remark, statement or argument which [is] not supported by the evidence or by the law, as I will instruct you." 6/16RP 98-99. The court

informed the jurors: "The evidence you are to consider consists of

the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits admitted in

evidence." Id. at 99.

The court's first written instruction again informed the jury

that the lawyers' statements and arguments were not evidence and

did not constitute the law to be applied, as follows:

The lawyers' remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the testimony and the exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions.

CP 23.

In its second written instruction, the court informed the jury of

the burden of proof, in pertinent part as follows:

The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial

unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 25.12

b. Argument Based On Gonzalez Guzman's Statement To Police Was Not A Comment On His Failure To Testify.

It is improper for a prosecutor to comment on a defendant's failure to testify at trial. <u>State v. Ramirez</u>, 49 Wn. App. 332, 336, 742 P.2d 726 (1987). The test used to determine whether a defendant's Fifth Amendment rights have been violated is whether the statement was such that the jury would "naturally and necessarily accept it as a comment on the defendant's failure to testify." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Crawford</u>, 21 Wn. App. 146, 152, 584 P.2d 442 (1978)). The jury in this case was twice instructed that the defendant is not compelled to testify, and the fact that a defendant does not testify cannot be used to infer guilt or prejudice him in any way. CP 27; 6/16RP 32.

Gonzalez Guzman's argument that the prosecutor commented on Gonzalez Guzman's failure to testify is premised on the prosecutor's references to the testimony of DG's mother that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The definition of reasonable doubt, which is in the final paragraph of the instruction, is not included in this quotation. The defendant's objection to that definition is discussed in the next section of this brief. See section C.4., <u>infra</u>.

she did not inflict the injuries and to the story that Gonzalez Guzman told the police the day after the assault about how he did inflict DG's injuries. 6/23RP 9-12. These arguments were proper references to the evidence presented at trial. The prosecutor did not suggest in any way that the jury should infer guilt based on the defendant's failure to testify at trial.

The only statement by the prosecutor that Gonzalez

Guzman identifies as an explicit reference to his failure to testify is

a phrase truncated from the remainder of the sentence to

completely reverse its meaning. Gonzalez Guzman asserts that

the prosecutor argued "we didn't have the Defendant's story."

Appellant's Brief at 35. The prosecutor's argument was this:

And, folks, that is enough, because, by [Crystal] denying that on the stand, you have established exclusive control, you have established who had exclusive control on that night. That is enough. Even if we didn't have the Defendant's story or supposed story –

6/23RP 9. The defense objected at this point and at a sidebar, claimed it was a comment on the defendant's failure to testify. Id. at 9, 39. The trial judge disagreed. Id. at 39. The point of the argument was that the jury did have the defendant's story, not that the jury did not have the defendant's story, as the portion quoted by Gonzalez Guzman implies. The prosecutor's point is quite clear, because moments before he told the jury, "So, at best, in a case like this, you're going to get medicals and you're going to get two sides to a story, and that's what you got." <u>Id.</u> at 8-9. The State is not prohibited from mentioning that the defendant made a statement to police because to do so might remind the jury that he did not testify at trial.

The next sentence in Gonzalez Guzman's argument also misrepresents the prosecutor's statements. After claiming that the prosecutor said the jurors did not have the defendant's story, the argument continues:

He echoed this argument again, after the sidebar in which Gonzalez Guzman objected, by reminding the jury that, as he had 'just mentioned,' the only statement from Gonzalez Guzman was his statement to the detective. Id. at 10.

Appellant's Brief at 35. The prosecutor's argument after the

sidebar was this:

•

Do you believe Crystal? Because, if you do, she's established exclusive control.

THE INTERPRETER: I did not hear the last words.

MR. KIM: If you do, she's established exclusive control, that he was the guy that had [DG], and he's the one and under his supervision this all occurred.

Let me ask you this way: Do you have any reason not to believe Crystal? Is there anything that she says that makes you wonder, well, I think she did it? Anything at all? That's all you need, folks.

But you have more. You have the statement that the Defendant gave you, like I mentioned earlier. You have his statement to Detective Thomas, and the only thing we can do is analyze that statement at this point.

Why don't we go ahead and analyze what he actually said, what he said in terms of what happened on the night of November 9th. ....

6/23RP 9-10. The prosecutor did not say that the statement to the detective was Gonzalez Guzman's only statement.

The prosecutor would not have tried to suggest that the only statement that the defendant made was to the detective, as the evidence at trial was that the defendant provided his version of events on other occasions. Gonzalez Guzman had made a statement to a social worker at the hospital the night DG was brought to the hospital; he claimed that he picked up the baby and then tripped and fell on top of the baby, who hit his head hard on the floor. 6/22RP 55-59. The next day, Gonzalez Guzman told Crystal he was willing to go to jail for hurting DG by accident. 6/22RP 60, 88. Defense counsel elicited from Crystal that Gonzalez Guzman had repeated the same exact version of events consistently since the day DG was taken to the hospital "until now." 6/22RP 96. Defense counsel had her repeat the defendant's version of events in detail again. 6/22RP 96-99.

٠

Nothing in the prosecutor's argument would be understood by a juror as a comment on the defendant's failure to testify, nor as a suggestion that his guilt could be inferred because of that choice. Referring to Crystal's testimony and describing it as being under oath was not a constitutional violation; these were facts that the jury observed.

The prosecutor's challenge to the credibility of Gonzalez Guzman's version of events also was not a constitutional violation. The prosecutor did not mock him for giving a statement early in the investigation, as claimed on appeal. The prosecutor pointed out that because Gonzalez Guzman provided this version of events before he was aware of the extent of the injuries, it did not account for the spiral fracture to DG's tibia and the severe brain damage. 6/23RP 12. Far from inferring guilt based on a failure to testify, or "encouraging the jury to use his failure to offer further timely statements about the incident against him,"<sup>13</sup> the force of the prosecutor's argument was that Gonzalez Guzman's statement at that time was probative of his guilt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Appellant's Brief at 34.

<sup>1303-3</sup> Gonzalez Guzman COA

c. Argument Inferring The Defendant's Motive For His Marriage Days After This Assault Was Proper And Based On Facts In Evidence.

Gonzalez Guzman claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing by arguing facts not in evidence. This argument should be rejected. The argument was an inference by the prosecutor that the marriage of Gonzalez Guzman and Crystal on November 12, 2007, two days after DG was hospitalized, occurred because Gonzalez Guzman felt guilty about injuring DG and tried to make up for it by marrying Crystal. 6/23RP 18, 37. The remarks, which drew no objection, were a fair inference from the evidence. If the remark was improper, any prejudice could have been cured by a simple instruction, and any error was waived by failure to request one.

A prosecutor is permitted reasonable latitude in drawing inferences from the evidence presented at trial. <u>State v. Hoffman</u>, 116 Wn.2d 51, 94-95, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). When, as here, the defendant does not object to the argument at trial, the claim of error has been waived unless the defendant establishes that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. <u>Stenson</u>, 132 Wn.2d at 719.

- 34 -

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